**FILED** 06-17-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP001728-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### PERCY ANTIONE ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michelle A. Havas and the Honorable Lindsey Grady presiding

# **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

DOUGLAS MCINTOSH Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1113138

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Arrested persons have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel once the government initiates adversary criminal proceedings against them.

Does Milwaukee County's use of the CR-215 procedure—in which a police officer files a formal accusation with a judicial officer, followed by a judicial determination of probable cause and the setting of bail—trigger the arrested suspect's right to counsel?

The trial court answered no.

The court of appeals has certified this question to this Court for review.

2. Counsel failed to challenge the asserted violation of Mr. Robinson's right to counsel, despite the existence of a controlling 2008 United States Supreme Court decision and four favorable decisions by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin.<sup>1</sup>

Counsel also failed to call two witnesses at Mr. Robinson's trial who were present during the robbery, had an opportunity to view the suspect, and later failed to identify Mr. Robinson as the robber.

Finally, counsel also failed to present evidence of other inconsistent identifications obtained by law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A fifth favorable decision from the Eastern District was issued while this matter was in briefing in the court of appeals.

enforcement, which should have been used to call into question the reliability of the identification evidence at trial.

Is Mr. Robinson entitled to a hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel arising from these three errors?

The trial court answered no.

The court of appeals did not reach this issue.<sup>2</sup>

#### INTRODUCTION

This case involves two important questions, both of which center on Mr. Robinson's right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment.

The United States Supreme Court has held that the right to counsel attaches when a law enforcement officer files a formal accusation with a judicial official followed by a judicial determination of probable cause and the setting of bail. *Rothgery v. Gillespie County, Texas*, 554 U.S. 191, 207 (2008).

In Milwaukee County, these three events—(1) the filing of a formal accusation with a judicial official; (2) a judicial determination of probable cause and (3) the setting of bail—are encompassed within the CR-215 procedure, so-named because of the standardized circuit court form bearing that title. The only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Court's order accepting the certification informs the reader, however, that it is accepting "all issues raised before the court of appeals."

difference between Milwaukee County's CR-215 procedure and the mechanism assessed in *Rothgery* is that, in Milwaukee County, the process is conducted entirely on paper and arrested suspects do not physically appear before a reviewing magistrate.

This distinction, however, is not sufficient to distinguish away the controlling force of *Rothgery*. Because the core components of the "attachment" inquiry are all satisfied by Milwaukee County's procedure, this Court should hold that the CR-215 process triggers an arrested person's right to counsel.

As is well-established in law, "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14 (1970). In this case, Mr. Robinson's postconviction motion plainly alleged three egregious violations of his right to the effective assistance of counsel; his motion pleaded both prongs of the relevant legal inquiry. Despite this, the trial court refused to hold a hearing. This Court should therefore reverse and remand.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charged Mr. Robinson with robbery of a financial institution contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.87. (5:1).

Mr. Robinson was convicted after a jury trial and sentenced to a term of imprisonment. (30:1; 36:1). (App. 20). Mr. Robinson filed a postconviction motion and a supplemental filing requesting an evidentiary

hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (61; 72). The court denied the motion in a written order without a hearing. (80:7). (App. 19). Mr. Robinson appealed, and the court of appeals certified the matter to this Court. See Certification Opinion issued April 19, 2022. (App. 3).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Trial Testimony

Mr. Robinson's trial hinged on the testimony of a single eyewitness—S.D., an "international banker" at U.S. Bank's West Capitol Drive location in Milwaukee. (89:63). She was working her usual shift on the date of the robbery, December 18, 2017. (89:64).

While "helping out" by filling in as a teller toward the end of her workday, she observed a man appearing to fill out a "Western Union slip." (89:64-65). According to her testimony, the man was wearing a black skullcap and a black jacket with colored lining. (89:69). S.D. remembered that the man was taller than her and that he had a dark complexion. (89:69).

The man waited in line and, when it was his turn at the teller window, handed S.D. a note stating, "I have a gun, give me the money." (89:67). S.D.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Department of Corrections (DOC) has filed a "Status Change Slip" in the circuit court indicating that Mr. Robinson is deceased. "When a defendant dies pending appeal, regardless of the cause of death, the defendant's right to an appeal continues." *State v. McDonald*, 144 Wis. 2d 531, 536, 424 N.W.2d 411 (1988).

handed the robber a "wad" of bills totaling roughly \$1,900. (89:67; 89:75-76). The man thanked her and walked away. (89:67). As he was leaving, S.D. activated the bank's alarm. (89:67). This transaction was captured on surveillance video, which was played for the jury. (89:71). Still photographs showing the robber's face were derived from that video and also presented to the jury. (22; 23); (App. 25).

The next day, December 19<sup>th</sup>, S.D. met with the police and gave a description of the robber. (89:92). She told police that the robber was a dark-skinned black man about 5'9" or 5'10". (89:92-93). He was 20-30 years old and had a mustache. (89:92-93). When compared against the surveillance video, S.D. accurately described the robber's clothes, except for his pants, which she believed to have been dark jeans. (89:93).

Three days later, S.D. attended a live lineup arranged by the Milwaukee Police Department. (89:79). She identified Mr. Robinson as the person who had robbed the bank. (89:87). She told the jury she was "100 percent" confident in her identification. (89:88). She also identified Mr. Robinson as the robber during her trial testimony. (89:87).

On cross-examination, however, the defense used a booking photo of Mr. Robinson taken the day after the robbery to illustrate that the robber in the video had a darker complexion, different facial hair,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> S.D. also testified that she participated in a photo identification procedure conducted by the defense and that she also identified Mr. Robinson as the robber during that procedure. (89:89).

looked younger, and did not have "worry lines" on his face when compared against Mr. Robinson. (89:96-98; 90:7-11; 27).

Detective Tyler Kirkvold informed the jury that he was dispatched to Mr. Robinson's home after he was arrested as a suspect in this robbery. (91:7-8). Detective Kirkvold searched Mr. Robinson's car and recovered a single \$100 bill. (91:9). Mr. Robinson also had \$134.25 on his person at the time of his arrest. (91:10).

The State also called Meagan Thielecke, who met with Mr. Robinson "in a professional capacity" the morning of the robbery. (91:13). She had previously been shown a still photograph of the robber and identified him as Mr. Robinson. (91:15). Ana Sandoval, also present during that meeting, likewise identified the man in the photograph as Mr. Robinson. (91:21).

Mr. Robinson was the only defense witness. (91:34). He denied being the robber and specifically denied being at the bank on the day of the robbery. (91:35). Instead, he told the jury that on the day the robbery was committed, he was recovering from the prior day's heroin, marijuana, and cocaine binge. (91:40). He also told the jury he met with Ms. Thielecke and Ms. Sandoval and then got high on heroin. (91:40). According to Mr. Robinson, heroin puts him to sleep. (91:40).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This was apparently a medical appointment. (88:8). In order to avoid apparently irrelevant or potentially prejudicial material, the State intentionally made the testimony vague on this point. (88:8).

# Closing Arguments and Jury Verdict

At the conclusion of the trial, the State focused on S.D.'s identification and argued to the jury that the other evidence in the case supported her testimony that Mr. Robinson was the robber. (92:14). In the State's view, S.D.'s identification was corroborated not only by circumstantial evidence—Mr. Robinson had two \$100 bills in his possession at the time of his arrest—but also by the testimony of Ms. Thielecke and Ms. Sandoval. (92:19-21).

In contrast, counsel for Mr. Robinson identified several reasons to disbelieve S.D.'s identification, focusing most intensely on the differences between the photograph of the robber and the booking photo of Mr. Robinson. (92:28-30). Counsel pointed out differences with respect to the eyes, nose, complexion, facial hair, bone structure and overall face shape. (92:28-29). The two men were also clearly not the same age. (92:28). Counsel even pointed out fine differences in the wrinkles and folds on the faces of the two men. (92:29). Moreover, counsel also asked the jury to consider the differences in demeanor between the man on the video and the way in which Mr. Robinson presented himself during his testimony. (92:29).

In addition to the obvious differences between the two photographs, counsel also pointed out the initial description of the robber given by S.D. was likewise inconsistent with Mr. Robinson. (92:28). And, while the State believed that her identification was corroborated by the other witnesses, counsel reminded the jury of Ms. Sandoval's demeanor during crossexamination, which involved her looking to the district attorney for reassurance with "doubt all over her face." (92:30). Counsel therefore argued this was a case of mistaken identity. (92:30).

During deliberations, the jury asked to see the video of the robbery "to make a final decision." (92:37). They also asked to view the still photos. (92:38). Thereafter, the jury found Mr. Robinson guilty of the charged offense. (93:3).

# <u>Postconviction Proceedings.</u>

After being sentenced to term of imprisonment, Mr. Robinson filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (33; 40). He then filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion raising several claims. (61). Relevant to this appeal, Mr. Robinson alleged that he had received ineffective assistance of counsel because his lawyer: (1) failed to object to the admission of S.D.'s out-of-court identification, as that evidence was derived from a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel; (2) failed to introduce evidence that two witnesses to the bank robbery did not identify Mr. Robinson as the robber; and (3) failed to introduce other evidence which would undermine the State's theory that S.D. and the other witnesses had correctly identified the robber. (61; 72).<sup>6</sup> Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mr. Robinson originally filed an § 809.30 postconviction motion arguing that the police had failed to adhere to the dictates of *County of Riverside v. McLaughlin*, 500 U.S. 44, 56-57 (1991) and *State v. Koch*, 174 Wis. 2d 684, 696, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993) by not providing Mr. Robinson with a judicial Continued.

Robinson asked the court to hold an evidentiary hearing on his claims. (61; 72).

The court, the Honorable Lindsey Grady presiding, denied the motion in a written order, without a hearing. (80:7); (App. 19). With respect to the asserted deprivation of the right to counsel, the circuit court noted that a recent unpublished decision by the court of appeals rejected an identical claim. (80:7); (App. 19). The court not only agreed with the outcome of the unpublished decision on the merits, but also found that trial counsel could not be responsible for failing to raise an issue of unsettled law. (80:7); (App. 19).

As to the second ineffectiveness claim—failure to call witnesses who had seen the robber but did not identify Mr. Robinson as that person—the court concluded that the witnesses' "inability to identify [Mr. Robinson] as the bank robber would not have been materially probative that anyone other than the defendant committed the bank robbery." (80:4); (App. 16).

determination of probable cause within 48 hours of his arrest. (61:12). As a result, Mr. Robinson argued that the results of the lineup identification procedure were inadmissible. (61:12). In response, the State filed a CR-215 form proving that it had complied with *Riverside* (this document was presumably not in the possession of prior counsel). (70); (App. 22). As a result, Mr. Robinson raised a supplemental postconviction claim arguing that the identification was inadmissible due to a violation of the *Rothgery* rule. (72:5).

Finally, with respect to the claim that counsel should have presented evidence that witnesses identified persons other than Mr. Robinson, the court concluded that this evidence would have been barred by State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (1984). (80:4); (App. 16). Moreover, the court also concluded that this evidence would not have made a difference given S.D.'s identification of Mr. Robinson as the robber. (80:4); (App. 16).

## Proceedings in the court of appeals

Mr. Robinson filed a notice of appeal and raised numerous claims in the court of appeals. The court of appeals issued a certification opinion, asking this Court to determine whether Milwaukee County's CR-215 procedure triggers the attachment of the right to counsel. See generally Certification Opinion issued April 19, 2022. (App. 3). This Court granted review, and in an order dated May 18, 2022, accepted jurisdiction of all issues briefed in the court of appeals. See Court Order Dated May 18, 2022.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  Mr. Robinson raised additional legal claims, including additional ineffectiveness arguments and a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. Those claims are not being renewed here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The State violated Mr. Robinson's Sixth Amendment right to counsel when it conducted a live lineup after initiating an adversary judicial proceeding. Accordingly, S.D.'s out-of-court identification was not admissible evidence.
  - A. Mr. Robinson's right to counsel attached after the CR-215 procedure conducted in conformity with *County of Riverside v. McLaughlin*, 500 U.S. 44 (1991).
    - 1. The Sixth Amendment right to counsel "attaches" when an "investigation" shifts to a "prosecution."

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution states that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right [...] to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." U.S. Const. Amend. VI.<sup>8</sup>

Well-settled precedent establishes that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches "at or after the initiation of adversary judicial criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> While Wisconsin's constitution also guarantees the right to counsel, Wis. Const. Art. I, § 7, this Court has previously held that the rights discussed therein are viewed as "interchangeable" with the provisions of the federal constitution. *State v. Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 229, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996).

proceedings—whether by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or arraignment." *Kirby v. Illinois*, 406 U.S. 682, 689 (1972) (plurality opinion). This formulation of the "attachment" requirement was subsequently ratified and reaffirmed in *McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S. 171, 175 (1991) and *United States v. Gouviea*, 467 U.S. 180, 188 (1984).

Thus, while suspects in a criminal case do not have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel at the time of their arrest, once the criminal *investigation* begins to ripen into a criminal *prosecution*, the right to counsel will have been triggered. See State v. Hattaway, 621 So.2d 796, 803 (La. 1993) (discussing the significance of a "shift" from investigation to prosecution). The United States Supreme Court has therefore held that "an accusation filed with a judicial officer is sufficiently formal, and the government's commitment to prosecute it sufficiently concrete, when the accusation prompts arraignment and restrictions on the accused's liberty to facilitate the prosecution." Rothgery, 554 U.S. at 207.

Whether the right to counsel has been triggered is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *See State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> While many states, including Wisconsin, have specific, statutorily-defined procedures denoted as an "arraignment," *see* Wis. Stat. § 971.05, the Court has made clear that its usage of this term is not tethered to any specific state procedural mechanism; instead it is a generic reference to the first appearance at which time the arrestee learns of the accusations against him or her. *Rothgery*, 554 U.S. at 202-203.

629 N.W.2d 625 (application of constitutional principles to undisputed facts merits *de novo* review).

2. The Fourth Amendment mandates a judicial determination of probable cause for arrested suspects. When combined with the setting of bail, this probable cause hearing satisfies the attachment requirement.

Suspects in a criminal case also have a Fourth Amendment right under *Gerstein v. Pugh*, 420 U.S. 103 (1975), as well as *Riverside*, to a judicial determination of probable cause within 48 hours of their arrest for a criminal offense. *Riverside*, 500 U.S. at 58. Given the dictates of federalism, however, the Court has "left it to the individual States to integrate prompt probable cause determinations into their differing systems of pretrial procedures." *Id.* at 53.

And, while *Gerstein* makes clear that the accused does not have an absolute right to counsel at this initial phase of the proceedings, *Gerstein*, 420 U.S. at 120, the United States Supreme Court clarified in *Rothgery* that this procedure can nevertheless trigger the attachment of the right to counsel for subsequent proceedings.

Rothgery analyzes a Texas procedure designed to comply with the Riverside requirement. See Rothgery v. Gillespie County, 491 F.3d 293, 300 (5th Cir. 2007). In Gillespie County, the initial probable cause determination is described as follows:

The arresting officer submitted a sworn "Affidavit Of Probable Cause" that described the facts supporting the arrest and "charge[d] that ... Rothgery ... commit[ted] the offense of unlawful possession of a firearm by a felon-3rd degree felony," After reviewing the affidavit, the magistrate "determined that probable cause existed for the arrest." The magistrate informed Rothgery of the accusation, set his bail at \$5,000, and committed him to jail, from which he was released after posting a surety bond.

Id. at 196 (internal citations omitted). This procedure does not involve the prosecutor. Id. at 198.

The Court held that this probable cause hearing marked the commencement of adversary criminal proceedings against the defendant, such that he was entitled to counsel at all critical phases of the prosecution that followed. Id., at 194. In the Court's view, "by the time a defendant is brought before a judicial officer, is informed of a formally lodged accusation, and has restrictions imposed on his liberty in aid of the prosecution, the State's relationship with the defendant has become solidly adversarial." Id. at 202. The involvement of a prosecutor is not required to trigger the right, id. at 207-208, nor does it matter whether the nuances of state law may operate to provide some kind of follow-up initial appearance at which time the State will provide counsel. Id. at 201-202. Rothgery is therefore quite clear that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel is not subordinate to "absurd distinctions" resulting from non-dispositive factual differences which arise from the inherently idiosyncratic workings of local government units. *Id.*  at 207. To hold otherwise would "bog the courts down" in resolving unnecessary factual disputes rather than focusing on essential constitutional guarantees. *Id*.

Thus, under controlling federal law, the decision to file a formal accusation against an arrested person with a judicial officer for the purpose of determining probable cause—combined with the setting of bail, to ensure that the person is available for prosecution—is sufficient to trigger the Sixth Amendment right to counsel and, as the Court also held, that outcome should not depend on the vagaries of local court practice. So long as these requirements are met, the accused will have a right to counsel under the federal constitution at any subsequent "critical stage." *Id*.

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