Filed 11-09-2023

Page 1 of 47

FILED 11-09-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2020AP1728-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PERCY ANTIONE ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS AND THE HONORABLE LINDSEY CANONIE GRADY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Robinson's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise a Sixth Amendment objection to the post-arrest lineup because whether the right to counsel attaches upon the filing of Form CR-215 is unsettled law.

A. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise unsettled issues of law.

A criminal defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 21, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. However, "counsel's performance need not be perfect, nor even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 22, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695.

In order to make a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must allege facts that establish counsel was both deficient and the deficiency was prejudicial under the familiar two-part test articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, "the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id.* at 688. "[A] court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Id.* at 689. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id*.

When assessing counsel's failure to raise a legal objection, "[i]n order to constitute deficient performance, the law must be settled in the area in which trial counsel was allegedly ineffective." State v. Hanson, 2019 WI 63, ¶ 28, 387 Wis. 2d 233, 928 N.W.2d 607. "When the law is unsettled, the failure to raise an issue is objectively reasonable and therefore not deficient performance." State v. Jackson, 2011 WI App 63, ¶ 10, 333 Wis. 2d 665, 799 N.W.2d 461. The law is unsettled "[w]hen case law can be reasonably analyzed in two different ways," id., or when "there is no Wisconsin case law directly on point on the issue" and existing Wisconsin case law does not "present a factual situation similar enough to the facts of this case," State v. Morales-Pedrosa, 2016 WI App 38, ¶ 26, 369 Wis. 2d 75, 879 N.W.2d 772. And an attorney's failure to raise a meritless argument is neither deficient performance nor prejudicial under Strickland. State v. Ziebart, 2003 WI App 258, ¶ 14, 268 Wis. 2d 468, 673 N.W.2d 369.

"When a circuit court summarily denies a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without holding a *Machner* hearing, the issue for the court of appeals . . . is whether the defendant's motion alleged sufficient facts entitling him to a hearing." *State v. Sholar*, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 51, 381 Wis. 2d 560, 912 N.W.2d 89.

B. No binding precedent has found that the right to counsel attaches in the absence of a personal appearance where a defendant is informed of the formal charges against him.

Robinson begins by addressing the merits of his Sixth Amendment claim. (Robinson's Br. 21.) This is an incorrect approach, however, because Robinson's trial counsel never raised a Sixth Amendment objection to his post-arrest/precharging lineup. A court "need not address the merits" of the issue that counsel failed to raise. *State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 32, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232. When a defendant argues that his lawyer was ineffective by not raising a certain issue, this Court generally is "confined to considering the narrower issue of whether the law was so well settled that counsel's performance was legally deficient." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 56, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93.

Here, Robinson cannot show his counsel was ineffective because there is no "settled law" holding that Milwaukee County's Form CR-215 probable cause determination procedure causes the Sixth Amendment right to counsel to attach. Indeed, no binding authority has found that the right to counsel attaches before a formal appearance before a judicial officer where an arrestee is informed of the charges against him or when charges have yet to be filed.

"Under the Sixth Amendment, a person formally charged with a crime has a right to counsel at every critical stage of the proceedings." State v. Hornung, 229 Wis. 2d 469, 476, 600 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis added); see also Rothgery v. Gillespie Cty., 554 U.S. 191, 212 (2008). While it is undisputed that a defendant has a constitutional right to representation before the preliminary hearing, (Bolivar) Jones v. State, 37 Wis. 2d 56, 69, 154 N.W.2d 278 (1967), no case in Wisconsin has held that the right to counsel attaches

20

before the defendant's initial appearance before a judicial officer.

To the contrary, the law is well-established that "the right to counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment applies at the first appearance before a judicial officer at which a defendant is told of the formal accusation against him and restrictions are imposed on his liberty." *Rothgery*, 554 U.S. at 194. That is when "the State's relationship with the defendant has become solidly adversarial" for the defendant to receive the Sixth Amendment's panoply of protections. *Id.* at 202. And no binding case holds that the use of Form CR-215 meets this standard. The absence of controlling case law in Robinson's favor dooms his ineffective assistance of counsel claim because to establish deficient performance, Robinson needs to point to "Wisconsin case law directly on point on the issue" under "a factual situation similar" to the case at hand that controls the issue. *Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 26.

Robinson contends that *Rothgery* compels a finding that counsel was deficient. (Robinson's Br. 38–40.) Not so. Again, under *Rothgery*, the right to counsel does not attach until "the *first appearance* before a judicial officer at which a defendant is told of the formal accusation against him." Rothgery, 554 U.S. at 194 (emphasis added). As discussed in greater detail below, and as the circuit court concluded, unlike the defendant in *Rothgery*, at the time of his lineup, Robinson had not yet made a first appearance before a judicial officer or been told of the formal charges against him. (R. 80:6.) Indeed, charges had not yet been filed. (R. 80:6.)

And as the postconviction court recognized "[t]he *exact* same issue the defendant now raises with almost identical facts were presented" in *State v. Garcia*, No. 2016AP1276-CR, 2018 WL 1738747 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 10, 2018), *aff'd*, 2019 WI 40, 386 Wis. 2d 386, 925 N.W.2d 528 (per curiam). (R. 80:6.) *Garcia* held that under *Rothgery*, the right to counsel does not attach during Milwaukee County's paper-only CR-

Page 22 of 47

215 Riverside procedure. Garcia, 2018 WL 1738747, ¶¶ 28– 30. The court of appeals reasoned that the right to counsel does not attach at a CR-215 hearing because the defendant is not present and no charges are filed. *Id.* Because the CR-215 probable cause determination concerns probable cause for the *arrest* and no "charges" are filed and the defendant is not present, "adversar[ial] criminal judicial proceedings" have not been commenced at this point within the meaning of *Rothgery. Garcia*, 2018 WL 1738747, ¶ 30.

While *Garcia* was unpublished, it was still an on-point, citable decision that directly applied to the facts of this case in the lead up to Robinson's trial. This forecloses any argument counsel was deficient for failing to argue that Robinson's Sixth Amendment rights were violated in this case because the question before this Court is not whether the court of appeals' decision in *Garcia* was correct, but whether, in light of that opinion and the absence of any controlling authority in his favor, it was unreasonable for Robinson's trial counsel not to lodge a Sixth Amendment objection to the postarrest lineup procedure. *See State v. Stroik*, 2022 WI App 11, ¶ 36, 401 Wis. 2d 150, 972 N.W.2d 640 ("attorneys are generally not required to advance losing arguments").

And although a federal court later granted habeas relief to Garcia and the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit upheld that grant of relief, those decisions were not yet issued at the time of Robinson's trial. The federal court decisions thus do not bolster Robinson's claim of ineffective assistance because counsel is not required to anticipate changes in the law, even when an issue is "percolating" in other courts. *Basham v. United States*, 811 F.3d 1026, 1029 (8th Cir. 2016).

In short, Robinson's trial counsel was not deficient because at the time, it was an open question whether the Milwaukee County CR-215 probable cause determination triggers a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Robinson cannot demonstrate that the "law was so well settled that counsel's performance was legally deficient." *Breitzman*, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 56. This Court can dispose of Robinson's Sixth Amendment ineffective assistance of counsel claim on this basis alone, without reaching the merits of the underlying objection.

II. The CR-215, ex-parte, paper probable cause finding does not involve a personal appearance or initiate formal adversary proceedings such that defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches.

If this Court decides to reach the merits of Robinson's Sixth Amendment claim in deciding whether trial counsel was deficient, it should nonetheless affirm the circuit court. Robinson's Sixth Amendment argument is based almost entirely on a misreading of Rothgery. Rothgery, properly interpreted, does not support Robinson's position that his right to counsel attached upon the CR-215 probable cause determination. Robinson's Sixth Amendment claim fails for three reasons: (1) Robinson did not appear before a judicial officer when the CR-215 form was completed, nor did he receive notice of the charges against him; (2) no formal charges were filed at the time the CR-215 form was completed; and (3) Robinson's assertion that under *Rothgery* the right to counsel attaches at any *Riverside* probable cause hearing when bail is set is contrary to United States Supreme Court precedent and precedent from this Court. The CR-215 procedure is not "nearly identical"¹¹ to the Texas procedure discussed in *Rothgery*. The CR-215 procedure serves solely to satisfy the Fourth Amendment's requirement that probable cause be found before liberty is restrained; it does not implicate an arrestee's Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

¹¹ (Robinson's Br. 26.)

A. *Rothgery* requires a personal appearance at which a defendant is informed of the charges against him before the right to counsel attaches.

Rothgery addressed "whether attachment of the right [to counsel] also requires that a public prosecutor (as distinct from a police officer) be aware of that initial proceeding or involved in its conduct." Rothgery, 554 U.S. at 194–95. The defendant in that case was arrested without a warrant and pursuant to Texas statute was "brought . . . before a magistrate" where the magistrate reviewed a sworn affidavit of probable cause by the arresting officer, "informed Rothgery of the accusation, set his bail . . . and committed him to jail." Id. at 195–96. The Supreme Court issued a "narrow" holding that reiterated the established principal that "a criminal defendant's initial appearance before a judicial officer, where he learns the charge against him and his liberty is subject to restriction, marks the start of adversary judicial proceedings that trigger attachment of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel." Id. at 213.

Contrary to what Robinson says (Robinson's Br. 29–30), the personal appearance in *Rothgery* was significant to its holding. *Rothgery* placed particular emphasis on the defendant's personal appearance at the hearing. The Court stressed that it had "twice held that the right to counsel attaches at the initial appearance before a judicial officer" and that "Texas's article 15.17 hearing *is an initial appearance*." *Rothgery*, 554 U.S. at 199 (emphasis added). Indeed, the Court in *Rothgery* used some form of the term "initial appearance" 25 times. And it noted that under the Texas procedure at issue, the defendant was present and was "formally apprised of the accusation against him." *Id.* at 195. Unlike *Rothgery*, the CR-215 procedure does not involve a defendant being brought before a magistrate and being informed of the charges against him. The circuit court made specific factual findings that:

- The CR-215 form is prepared by law enforcement, without assistance from a prosecutor, and brought to a judicial officer for an ex parte review. . . .
- The review of the CR-215 form is not a formal hearing and the suspect is not present for it, nor is a prosecutor.
- The suspect is not at that time provided a copy of the CR-215 form.

(R. 80:6.)

Robinson entirely misses the point by arguing that a *physical* appearance is not necessary for the right to counsel to attach because a defendant may appear in court in circumstances other than a personal appearance. (Robinson's Br. 31.) The CR-215 procedure is entirely ex parte; no appearance—whether personal, by phone, by video, or through counsel—occurs. Given these differences from the Texas procedure at issue in *Rothgery*, that decision does not control.

Federal procedure involving the criminal complaint provides a useful comparison. A federal criminal complaint is made on oath before a magistrate judge and contains a statement of facts establishing probable cause of the offense. Fed. R. Crim. P. 3, 4.1. The Seventh Circuit has confirmed that the filing of a federal criminal complaint does not trigger the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, which instead attaches at the defendant's initial appearance, "where he learns the charge against him." *See United States v. States*, 652 F.3d 734, 741 (7th Cir. 2011). The court noted that "[a]ll of our sister circuits to have examined the issue have concluded that the mere filing of a federal criminal complaint does not trigger the right to counsel. *Id.* (collecting cases).

In reaching the same result, the First Circuit explained that "[t]he process of securing a federal criminal complaint *does not involve the appearance of the defendant before a judicial officer*. It is therefore unlike a preliminary hearing or arraignment," and therefore does not implicate a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. United States v. Boskic, 545 F.3d 69, 83 (1st Cir. 2008) (emphasis added).

If the filing of a federal criminal complaint—a document signed by a magistrate judge, outlining probable cause to support specific charges against the defendant, that is later provided to the defendant and formally lodged on the criminal docket—does not implicate *Rothgery*, then neither can Wisconsin's less formal CR-215 procedure.¹² *Rothgery* says nothing about whether the right to counsel attaches at a post-arrest, pre-indictment lineup where the defendant has not yet personally appeared before a magistrate and had the formal charges against him read.

B. The CR-215 form does not initiate criminal proceedings, and there is no right to counsel at post-arrest lineup when no charges have been filed.

Robinson's reliance on *Rothgery* is misplaced for a second reason—completion of the CR-215 form does not initiate criminal adversary proceedings. And established law holds that there is no right to counsel at a post-arrest lineup if criminal proceedings have not been initiated.

Rothgery reaffirmed the long-established rule that the right to counsel is not triggered "until a prosecution is commenced." Rothgery, 554 U.S. at 198 (citing McNeil v.

 $^{^{12}}$ The State discusses the Seventh Circuit's decision in Garcia IV in more detail supra.

Wisconsin, 501 U.S. 171, 175 (1991)). Commencement is "pegged" to "initiation of adversary judicial criminal proceedings—whether by way of formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or arraignment." *Id.* (citation omitted). This "is not 'mere formalism,' but a recognition of the point at which 'the government has committed to prosecute." *Id.* (quoting *Kirby v. Illinois*, 406 U.S. 682, 689 (1972). *Rothgery* held that the Texas procedure at issue marked the point of commencement, regardless of the fact that the prosecutor was not involved in the procedure. *Id.* at 198–99. That was so, in part, because the Texas procedure involved the defendant being "formally apprised of the accusation against him." *Id.* at 195. The magistrate explicitly informed Rothgery that he "stands charged by complaint duly filed." *Id.* at 196 (emphasis added).

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